### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA



BARRY GILBERT O'CONNELL,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 64,565

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED SID J. WHITE

APR 24 1984

CLERK SUPREME COURT

By Chief Deputy Clerk

### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

MICHAEL E. ALLEN
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

STEVEN L. BOLOTIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
POST OFFICE BOX 671
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32302
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

#### ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING APPELLANT'S CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE TO PROSECTIVE JURORS WHO WOULD AUTOMATICALLY RECOMMEND THE DEATH PENALTY; IN REFUSING TO ALLOW ADDITIONAL PEREMPTORY CHALLENGES; IN PREMATURELY GRANTING THE STATE'S CHALLENGES FOR CAUSE TO PROSPECTIVE JURORS WHO WERE OPPOSED TO THE DEATH PENALTY; AND IN REFUSING TO ALLOW DEFENSE COUNSEL ANY OPPORTUNITY TO EXAMINE THE PREMATURELY EXCLUDED JURORS ON VOIR DIRE; THEREBY DEPRIVING APPELLANT OF HIS RIGHTS TO A FAIR TRIAL BY AN IMPARTIAL JURY AND TO DUE PROCESS OF LAW, GUARANTEED BY THE SIXTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 9 AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 16 OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION, AND HIS RIGHT TO EXAMINE JURORS ORALLY ON THEIR VOIR DIRE AS PROVIDED IN FLA.R.CR.P. 3.300(b).

#### A. Introduction.

At the beginning of the jury selection proceeding, the trial court announced that he would begin with a panel of thirty-six prospective jurors, and if a jury was not empaneled from among that group, he would bring additional jurors up in increments of twenty or less (R.15). The trial court, over defense objection, ruled that each side would be limited to ten peremptory challenges as provided in Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.350 (R.15-17). The court stated that he would take defense counsel's request for additional peremptory challenges under advisement; however, he would not be inclined to give more "unless something suggests it is appropriate" (R-16-17). Defense counsel also requested that the trial court, in his discretion, allow him to proceed first in voir dire (R.17-18). The prosecutor asked "that the standard traditional method be used here, and that is the state be allowed to question the panel first, followed by the defendant." (R.18). The trial court said:

It is my view that most of these cases — It is only a psychological advantage in the mind of one Counsel over the other, who goes first or second in the early stages of Voir Dire. But I find no reason for breaking the tradition at this point, letting the State go forward, and followed by the defense. You will both be given a full opportunity to fully examine each prospective juror, and ask all those questions you need.

And I am not going to sit here and allow you to develop a rapport with jurors anyway. That's not the function of Voir Dire. But, I am cer-

tainly going to give you an opportunity to fully explore all the situations or issues that go to prejudice, sympathy, bias, those things that would disqualify a juror for cause, and in the mind of Counsel.

So, your request is denied. State will go first. (R.18-19)

The prosecutor, Mr. Hensel, proceeded to question the prospective jurors (R.30-115,214-64,302-10,325-43,355-68,381-93), followed by defense counsel, Mr. Terrell (R.124-206,264-77,288-99,310-21,343-54,371-79,393-410). Of the original group of jurors, defense counsel challenged ten for cause, on the ground that they could not consider the full range of punishment and would automatically impose the death penalty. The trial court granted the challenge for cause as to juror McIntosh (R.322); denied the challenges for cause as to jurors Burgess (R.213) and McNair (R.323), but subsequently excused them for cause on other grounds (R.300-324); and denied the challenges for cause as to jurors Wasden (R.210-11); Wester (R.211); Burmeister (R.212-13,322-23); Kirksey (R.301); McAdams (R.301); Lindsay (R.354-55); and McAnally (R.412-13). The defense used all ten of its peremptory challenges -- six of them on Wasden (R.301); Burmeister (R.354), Kirksey (R.301); McAdams (R.379); Lindsay (R.379), and McAnally (R.413). Just prior to exercising his last peremptory challenge on McAnally, defense counsel renewed his request for additional peremptory challenges; the trial court denied the request over objection (R.411). It is appellant's position that at least three of his challenges for cause (those made to Burmeister, Lindsay, and McAnally) were improperly denied as a matter of law, and that as a result he was forced to exhaust his peremptory challenges on persons who should have been excused for cause. See e.g. Leon v. State, 396 So.2d 203,205 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981); United States v. Nell, 526 F.2d 1223,1229 (5th Cir. 1976). Having exhausted his peremptory challenges, and his request for additional peremptory challenges having been denied, appellant was unable to peremptorily challenge two jurors whom he had unsuccessfully chal-

1

Appellant is not conceding that the remaining rulings were correct, only that they fell within the range of the trial court's discretion.

lenged for cause (R.211,413); Wester (who said he would lean toward the death penalty for a planned murder (R.184)) and Landsgaard (a former FBI agent who was acquainted with several of the police officers who testified at trial (R.53,74, 143-44,395-96), and who believed that it would "possibly" take a greater showing than with other witnesses to demonstrate that law enforcement officers might not be candid (R.396)). Appellant was also unable to peremptorily challenge juror Keyes (R.539), who had acknowledged some prior exposure to the facts of the case (R.538-39), who indicated that he would more firmly believe that the death penalty was appropriate in a multiple killing situation (R.455,512), and who stated that, while he did not feel that it was an "absolute necessity" for a defendant to testify in his own behalf, " . . . [i]f I had attorneys, and were being protected by our great laws, I would certainly want to at least have the opportunity to defend myself" (R.520-21). Defense counsel told the trial court that he did not believe he had grounds for a challenge for cause to Mr. Keyes, but he once again renewed his request for additional peremptory challenges (R.539). The trial court once again denied the request (R.539). Wester, Landsgaard, and Keyes all served on the jury which convicted appellant and recommended that he be sentenced to death, and Keyes became its foreman (see R.1171-73,1288-89).

At the point when defense counsel used his last peremptory challenge, eleven potential jurors remained (R.413-14). After an overnight recess, a new group of twenty prospective jurors was called up for questioning (R.413-19). This group, in contrast to the first group, included three jurors who acknowledged, in response to the prosecutor's inquiry, that they were religiously, morally, or philosophically opposed to the death penalty (R.440-41). One of these three jurors, Ridings, was excused on the basis of his exposure to pre-trial publicity and his resulting inability to be impartial (R.485-87); appellant is not challenging that ruling on appeal. The other two "death-scrupled" jurors, Poniatowski and Caristi, were excused for cause based solely on their answers to the prosecutor's leading

questions. The defense (as defense counsel noted and as the trial court recognized R.484-85)) was denied any opportunity to "rehabilitate" these jurors, clarify their responses, or attempt to demonstrate that they were qualified to serve on the jury. In fact, defense counsel never had an opportunity to examine these two jurors at all. [In stark contrast, the prosecutor not only had the opportunity to question each juror initially (R.30-115), he was also permitted to reexamine the jurors (including every one of the "automatic death-penalty" jurors) after defense counsel had questioned them and in several cases after defense counsel had challenged them for cause, for the purpose of "rehabilitating" them. See R.222-23 (Wasden); 227-28 (McAdams); 236-37 (Wester); 247-48 (Kirksey); 250-51 (McNair); 253-55 (Burmeister); 260-62 (Burgess); 305-07 (McIntosh); 333-35 (Lindsey); 393 (McAnally). At least one of the defense's challenges for cause (McAnally) was denied specifically on the basis of the trial court's belief that the juror had successfully been rehabilitated (R.412-13). Yet the trial court excused the two "death-scrupled" jurors without allowing the defense to ask so much as a single question, in direct contravention of Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.300, which guarantees each party the right to examine each juror orally on their voir dire, and notwithstanding that Florida law appears to require that a defense attorney who objects to the excusal for cause of a "death-scrupled" juror make an attempt to rehabilitate the challenged juror. See Paramore v. State, 229 So.2d 855,858 (Fla. 1969); see also O'Bryan v. Estelle, 714 F.2d 365,376-78 (5th Cir. 1983). Such a "double standard" fails to comport with due process. See Crawford v. Bounds, 395 F.2d 297,303-04 (4th Cir. 1968).

The trial court's erroneous denial of defense challenges for cause to at least three "automatic death penalty" jurors, thereby forcing appellant to exhaust his peremptory challenges on jurors who should have been excused for cause, coupled with the court's repeated refusal to allow additional peremptory challenges, requires reversal of appellant's conviction and death sentence. See Thomas v. State, 403 So.2d 371 (Fla. 1981); see also Smith v. State, 573 S.W.2d 763 (Tex.Cr.App.

1977); Cuevas v. State, 575 S.W.2d 543 (Tex.Cr.App.1978); Pierce v. State, 604
S.W.2d 185 (Tex.Cr.App. 1980). The trial court's premature excusal of two jurors who expressed opposition to the death penalty without permitting the defense any opportunity to "rehabilitate" them or clarify their positions with respect to their ability to follow the law, requires, at minimum², reversal of appellant's death sentence. See e.g. Davis v. Georgia, 429 U.S. 122 (1977); Burns v. Estelle, 592 F.2d 1297 (5th Cir. 1979), adhered to en banc, 626 F.2d 396 (1980). The Court's refusal to allow the defense any opportunity to question jurors Poniatowski and Caristi violated the fundamental rights protected by Fla.R.Cr.P. 3.300(b), and reversal would be required for this reason alone. See Barker v. Randolph, 239
So.2d 110 (Fla. 1st DCA 1970); Williams v. State, 424 So.2d 148 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). Finally, the double standard employed by the trial court in allowing the state to rehabilitate the "automatic death penalty" jurors while denying the defense even an initial opportunity to question, let alone a chance to rehabilitate, the anti-death-penalty jurors, violated the most basic tenets of due process.

To permit a juror whose mind is foreclosed on one side of [the death penalty] issue to serve, while eliminating those who think to the contrary, and to exert special effort to qualify one whose mind may be foreclosed on the issue of guilt while freely excusing those who indicate a predisposition as to punishment, were not the ways to achieve the constitutional objective. Denial of equal treatment in the manner of selection inevitably resulted in denial of due process.

Crawford v. Bounds, supra, at 304; see Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510,522 n. 20 (1968).

B. The Trial Court Erred In Denying Appellant's Challenges for Cause to Prospective Jurors Who Would Automatically Recommend the Death Penalty; and in Refusing to Allow Additional Peremptory Challenges.

#### McAnally

In response to defense counsel's inquiry, prospective juror McIntosh stated that he believed that anyone convicted of premeditated murder should automatically

On the basis of <u>Grigsby v. Mabry</u>, 569 F.Supp. 1273 (E.D. Ark.1983), appellant further contends that he is entitled to reversal of his conviction on this ground as well.

get the death penalty (R.157-58,161). Defense counsel then asked:

Is there anyone else who has any belief similar to that of Mr. McIntosh?

Mr. Burgess?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: I feel like if the man is found guilty, he should have the death penalty.

MR. TERRELL [defense counsel]: Okay.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Definitely.

MR. TERRELL: Regardless of whether it is premeditated or felony murder?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Well, those were innocent people.

MR. TERRELL: Now, Mr. McAnally?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: I feel the same way.

MR. TERRELL: All right.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: If he's convicted.

MR. TERRELL: Does it make any difference whether it's a finding of guilt for one or two people?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: About the same to me.

(R.162-63).

Further questioning of Mr. McAnally revealed the following:

Mr. McAnally, how about you? What do you think about this distinction between what I call, with all delicacy, simple premeditation, and this higher standard under the aggravating circumstances?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: I would have to weigh all of the evidence, and then decide. But, I wouldn't want any doubt in my mind before I made a decision.

MR. TERRELL: Okay. Now, I am trying to balance that with what you said there, about thinking that anyone convicted of premeditated killing should get the death penalty.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: If he's guilty, I do think so; yes, sir.

MR. TERRELL: Okay. Do you understand that discussion I was having with Mr. McIntosh, the differences, the different types of premeditation?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Right.

MR. TERRELL: Okay. Do you see any difference between the two in your own mind?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Not really.

MR. TERRELL: Okay. So, if I am not misphrasing you, anytime there is a premeditated killing, to you it's kind of automatic death penalty? And Ms. Burmeister, how about you?

(R.175-76).

Upon subsequent examination by the prosecutor, Mr. McAnally gave the following responses:

MR. HENSEL: What does premeditation mean to you, Mr. McAnally?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Same as all the other people here. I thought, at first, it was a long planned thing, but I didn't know it could happen at the spur of the moment. I found out different, I guess.

MR. HENSEL: And do you understand now? I think originally you were saying if they were found guilty of premeditated murder, automatically they deserve the death penalty.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Right.

MR. HENSEL: You under stand that's not what the law is in Florida? If they are found guilty of first degree murder, then you go into that weighing process.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Right.

MR. HENSEL: And you think you are going to be able to do that?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Oh, yeah.

(R.393).

The defense challenged Mr. McAnally for cause on the ground that he had expressed the view that the death penalty should be automatic in all cases of premeditated murder (R.412). The trial court said:

You and Mr. Hensel have done such a good job of educating Mr. McAnally, I think he has finally seen the light, and I have notations down here that he will obviously weigh the evidence before he comes up with any decision. So your challenge is denied.

(R.412-13).

Defense counsel then used a peremptory challenge (his last one) on Mr. Mc-Anally (R.413).

#### Burmeister

After explaining that the death penalty and life imprisonment with a mandatory

twenty-five years before becoming eligible for parole are the alternative sentences for first-degree murder in Florida, and after observing that, in a two-count murder case like this one, the court could run the life sentences consecutively, resulting in a fifty year mandatory minimum, and that parole was not a certainty even then, defense counsel said:

Okay. With those understandings, is there anyone else besides these three gentlemen who are of the mind that anyone convicted of premeditated killing should automatically get the death penalty?

Yes, Ms. Burmeister?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: I feel that the death penalty is what they deserve.

MR. TERRELL: Okay. Can you tell me what has caused you to come to feel that way?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: I think when you knowingly take someone else's life, then you should be held liable to give your life in return. You know, I think -- I certainly think there are reasons for killing. You know, I feel like I would kill if someone harmed my child or something like that. But, just to knowingly, willfully go out and shoot someone or kill someone, I think the death penalty is what they deserve. I think they have become a burden on us to support them in the prison system for fifty years.

(R.164)

Ms. Burmeister subsequently indicated, upon further questioning by defense counsel, that she could see a difference between a "planned" premeditated murder as opposed to "an attempted robbery with a gun, and something happening that makes him instantly decide that he's got to kill her or just does" (R.176). Ms. Burmeister was "not totally comfortable" with the idea that the defendant has no burden of proof -- "I think that if a person is innocent, that you should be able to show why he was innocent. I just think that would help the case a whole lot" (R.177).

The prosecutor sought to rehabilitate Ms. Burmeister by explaining that the aggravating circumstance of "cold, calculated, and premeditated" requires a higher degree of premeditation than that necessary for conviction on a theory of premeditation in the guilt phase (R.254-55). He asked:

Do you understand if you are on the Jury, and you get to the penalty

phase, that it's that weighing process, and at this time I am not, you know -- we don't know which, if any of the nine possible aggravating circumstances are going to apply to the facts of this case or what, if any, mitigating circumstances will be presented. You have to rely on that, and wait until you hear that evidence and make your decision.

(R.254)

At this point, the trial court announced a lunch break, and Ms. Burmeister never indicated whether she understood the weighing process of aggravating and mitigating circumstances or not. When they returned from lunch, the prosecutor asked her a different question, whether she had the "emotional ability" to look the defendant in the eye and say "A majority of our number recommend you die" (R.255). Ms. Burmeister replied that she could (R.255).

Defense counsel twice challenged Ms. Burmeister for cause (R.212-13,322-23).

In support of the renewed challenge, counsel argued:

She said anyone convicted of premeditated murder should automatically get the death penalty. And, in addition, she felt the cost of incarcerating a person over a long period of time overrode any qualms she had about giving a death penalty.

(R.323)

On each occasion, the trial court denied the challenge for cause to Ms. Burmeister (R.213,323), and defense counsel was forced to expend a peremptory challenge on her (R.354).

#### Lindsay

The prosecutor asked prospective juror Lindsay:

MR. HENSEL: Do you think you can go through this weighing process we have outlined to make a determination of whether the death sentence is appropriate?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: I believe so.

MR. HENSEL: Do you think you have the emotional --

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: I don't think it would upset me.

MR. HENSEL: You got the emotional strength to come in here and look that man in the eye, and say: We recommend you die for what you have done?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: Yes; I do.

MR. HENSEL: Any problem with that, that you anticipate?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: No, sir.

(R.335)

Shortly <u>after</u> the above discussion, Ms. Lindsay made the following statements in response to defense counsel's inquiry:

MR. TERRELL: How do you feel about the death penalty, just as far as whether or not it's being used?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: I believe in the death penalty.

MR. TERRELL: Along those lines, how would you describe your own feelings about the death penalty? When do you think it should be used?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: I believe if somebody commits a murder.

MR. TERRELL: Can you give me any kind of idea about what you mean in that area?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: I mean, if you plan a murder or just not in anger, something like that.

MR. TERRELL: Do you think it should be given in all cases like that, regardless of any of what may have gone into it?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR: I believe so.

(R.347-48)

Defense counsel challenged Ms. Lindsay for cause, on the ground that she believed that the death penalty should automatically be imposed for premeditated murder (R.354-55). The trial court disagreed:

That's not my recollection of what she said. She felt like it was a proper punishment for premeditated murder, which is what the legislature thinks is correct as well. But my recollection is she she said she would weigh the mitigating and aggravating factors. The challenge is denied.

The defense subsequently used a peremptory challenge to remove Ms. Lindsay (R.379)

The accused in a capital case, just as much as the state and maybe more

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