IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BARRY GILBERT O'CONNELL,
APPELLANT,
-VS-
STATE OF FLORIDA,
APPELLEE.

CASE NO. 64,565

FILED
S'D J. WHITE
JUN 13 1984

CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By J. White
Chief Deputy Clerk

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH
ATTORNEY GENERAL

ANDREA SMITH HILLYER
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
THE CAPITOL
TALLAHASSEE, FL 32301
(904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

TOPICAL

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

This Court then applied the "mirror image" of Witherspoon:

Witherspoon requires that veniremen who oppose the death penalty be excused for cause only when irrevocably committed before the trial to voting against the death penalty under any circumstances or where their views on capital punishment would interfere with finding the accused guilty. We find that the same standard should be applied when excusing for cause a venireman who is in favor of the death penalty. A judge need not excuse such a person unless he or she is irrevocably committed

to voting for the death penalty if the defendant is found guilty of murder and is therefore unable to follow the judge's instructions to weigh the aggravating circumstances against the mitigating circumstances.

437 So.2d at 1075-6. Thus, as the converse on a Witherspoon challenge, the court need not excuse the venireman unless the venireman makes unmistakably clear 1) that he would automatically vote for imposition of the death penalty without regard to any evidence that might be developed at the trial, or 2) that his attitude toward the death penalty would prevent him from making an impartial decision as to the defendant's guilt or innocence.

This case differs from Thomas v. State, 403 So.2d 371 (Fla.1981) where the trial court erroneously denied the defendant's challenge for cause of a juror who admitted he could not recommend any mercy in any required sentencing phase under any circumstances. In Thomas, after the juror stated he would impose death if guilt was proven, defense counsel asked the juror if he could recommend mercy, in any event, to which the juror replied "no." Defense counsel repeated the question as to a recommendation of mercy in any event and again received "no" as an answer. When the state attorney attempted to rehabilitate, the juror stated that under no circumstances would he recommend mercy. The important distinction between Thomas and the present case is that appellant's defense counsel generally failed to ask the prospective jurors whether they felt that they would "under no circumstances consider the possibility of mercy." See Poole v. State, 194 So.2d 903 (Fla.1967)⁴.

⁴

See Patterson v. Com., 283 S.E.2d 212 (Va.1981), cited by appellant; where the Court, in holding that veniremen biased in favor of the

Appellant's defense counsel asked juror McAnally (right before challenging him for cause!) if he thought there could be any showing which would make him vote for a life sentence for a person convicted of premeditated murder. McAnally replied "Sure. If after the evidence is weighed." It is clear that McAnally was not irrevocably committed to voting for the death penalty, was not unable to recommend mercy under no circumstances, and was able to follow the judge's instructions as to weighing the aggravating and mitigating circumstances. It is clear there was no error in refusing to grant appellant's challenge for cause to prospective juror McAnally.

Appellant's defense counsel never asked Burmeister whether she could never recommend mercy, under any circumstances, where a defendant is found guilty of premeditated murder. Burmeister's responses to the questions propounded on voir dire reveal nothing more than a general tendency in favor of the death penalty. Just prior to the defense's second challenge to Burmeister, Burmeister answered no to the defense question of whether her belief in the death penalty would enter into her judgment (R 275-276). Likewise, Lindsay's responses evidenced nothing more than a belief in or tendency to favor the death penalty. The State Attorney asked whether Lindsay could follow the instructions

death penalty can be eliminated for cause, recognized that the following question should have been asked: "Do you feel that regardless of the facts or circumstances that in every case of murder the death penalty should be imposed", since that question explores the venireman's predilection for imposing the death penalty.

and comply with the weighing process previously explained to the venire in order to determine the appropriateness of the death penalty; Lindsay replied "I believe so." (R 335). Later, defense counsel asked Lindsay about her feelings on the death penalty, and asked:

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Do you think it should be given in all cases like that, regardless of any of what may have gone into it?

LINDSAY: I believe so.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Now, in deciding the question of guilt or innocence, do you understand we are in a situation where my client has entered a plea of not guilty? He has denied that he's the one that has done these things?

LINDSAY: Uh-huh.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Do you feel like it would be required for him to come forward and prove innocence in any way?

LINDSAY: No, I don't think so.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Okay. Do you understand what we talked about earlier, that sometimes it's just not possible to prove innocence?

LINDSAY: Uh-huh.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: And there is no legal obligation. As a matter of fact, it's a legal right and privilege that we all share that makes the prosecutors prove guilt?

LINDSAY: Well, I think you just have to listen to all the evidence, and then you have to decide.

(R 348-349) (emphasis supplied). Defense counsel never asked Lindsay whether she could never recommend mercy in such cases, etc. Lindsay's answers indicated she could obey the law and weigh the circumstances, and that she could determine guilt or innocence based on the evidence alone.

These challenged jurors did not indicate they had a preconceived opinion as to the guilt or innocence of appellant; nor did they believe they had a duty to recommend death in every case where an accused is found guilty of first degree murder; and nor did they indicate that they could never recommend mercy in such cases, under any circumstances. Instead, these jurors indicated only that they had no conscientious scruples against the death penalty and that in a proper case they would recommend the death penalty, which is valid under the law. Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242, 96 S.Ct. 2960, 49 L.Ed.2d 913 (1976). "In other words, the veniremen indicated only that they would be willing to perform their civic obligation as jurors and obey the law." Spinkellink v. Wainwright, supra at 594. Defense counsel here did not ask enough questions to demonstrate that the veniremen's previously expressed tendency in favor of the death penalty would cause the veniremen 1) to automatically vote for imposition of the death penalty without regard to any evidence that might be developed at trial, or 2) to be unable to make an impartial decision as to the appellant's guilt or innocence.

In any event, appellant's contention that the court's failure to grant the challenges requires reversal of both the conviction and sentence is without merit. Even if the trial court had erred, which it did not, the only relief permissible would be reversal of the sentence and not the conviction of guilt. Witherspoon v. Illinois, supra; Thomas v. State, 403 So.2d 371 (Fla.1981), J. Alderman concurring in part, dissenting in part. This is true especially since the challenged jurors were not

challenged on the basis their views on the death penalty would taint the determination of guilt or innocence. A jury qualified by unconstitutional standards respecting punishment is not necessarily biased with respect to a defendant's guilt. Bumper v. North Carolina, 391 U.S. 543, 88 S.Ct. 1788, 20 L.Ed.2d 797 (1968).

Finally, it is important to note that based upon this record, if the converse situation had occurred, i.e., the veniremen had expressed opposition to the death penalty and the State had asked the questions asked by defense counsel in this case, the State could not have excused them for cause under Witherspoon because there would be an insufficient showing. Appellant has not shown that the trial court erred in denying his challenges, as appellant did not develop the questioning far enough to show justification for excusal.

Appellant additionally asserts that the court committed reversible error in forcing appellant to exhaust his peremptory challenges on persons who should have been excused for cause, because of the effect of abridging the right to exercise peremptory challenges. Specifically, appellant states that three of his peremptory challenges were used on McAnally, Burmeister, and Lindsay after appellant's challenges for cause to those three veniremen were denied.

Appellant's argument that he lacked a sufficient number of peremptory challenges is premised on the assumption that he

unnecessarily used three of them to excuse McAnally, Burmeister and Lindsay. However, since the trial judge did not abuse his discretion in refusing to excuse those three for cause, there is no basis for holding that appellant was unconstitutionally denied additional challenges. Fitzpatrick v. State, supra.

Appellee agrees that some courts have recognized that "as a general rule it is error for a court to force a party to exhaust his peremptory challenges on persons who should be excused for cause, for this has the effect of abridging the right to exercise peremptory challenges." United States v. Nell, 526 F.2d 1223 (5th Cir.1976); Williams v. State, 440 So.2d 404 (Fla.1st DCA 1983); Leon v. State, 396 So.2d 203 (Fla.3rd DCA 1981). However, there can be no error in the trial court's exercise of its lawful discretion unless appellant first shows that his peremptory challenges were used on persons who should have been excused for cause. In other words, appellant must show that a sitting juror was unqualified and should have been excused for cause upon motion of appellant. See Leon v. State, supra, [appellate court found juror should have been excused for cause]; Williams v. State, supra, [appellate court found juror should have been excused for cause due to bias]. In Lusk v. State, No. 59,146 (Fla., Jan. 26, 1984), 9 F.L.W. 39, this same issue was raised, and although this Court declined to reach the issue since Lusk had not exhausted his peremptory challenges, this Court nevertheless explained:

Furthermore, a review of the jury selection transcript discloses no sitting juror who appears unqualified

and who should have been excused. No proof has been submitted by Lusk that casts any doubt on the conclusion that Lusk was convicted by a fair and impartial jury.

9 F.L.W. at 40. Appellant has failed to show he was prejudiced by being required to accept an objectionable juror because of the denial of his challenges for cause to McAnally, Burmeister and Lindsay, and the resulting use of his peremptories. See, Rollins v. State, 148 So.2d 274 (Fla.1963); Wheeler v. State, 362 So.2d 377 (Fla.1st DCA 1978), cert.den., 99 S.Ct. 1254, 440 U.S. 924, 59 L.Ed.2d 478.

Appellant points to three sitting jurors upon whom he would have exercised peremptory challenges if the trial court had granted additional peremptory challenges. Two of these, Wester and Landsgaard, were challenged for cause by appellant; the challenges were denied. (R 211,413). The third, juror Keyes, was not challenged for cause by appellant; however, just prior to discussing Keyes in the bench conference appellant renewed his request for additional peremptory challenges (R 539).

Juror Wester was challenged for cause by appellant on the stated ground, "He is committed in fact to the death penalty." (R 210-211). Prior to appellant's challenge of Wester, appellant examined Wester:

(At 162-163)

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Does it make any difference whether it's a finding of guilt for one or two people?

* * *

PROSPECTIVE JUROR WESTER: I don't feel that it necessarily carries the death sentence, but I do feel

that it's wrong to have laws that completely eliminate the death sentence, under any circumstance.

(At 183-184)

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Mr. Wester, how about you, sir?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR WESTER: If we had arrived at a guilty verdict, and if the prosecution had shown that it was one form of premeditation, in which I would call it cold blooded and planned, and then if the defense offered no reasons to disprove that, then I would lean towards the death penalty.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Okay. Under those circumstances or situation like that can you conceive any set of ideas or possible evidence, like family background or anything like that that could get you to change your mind any way or would you still probably recommend the death penalty, if no evidence was put on about what occurred?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR WESTER: No. The prosecution would have to prove a second time, without a doubt that he purposely went on and, in cold blood, and killed. After he was found guilty, we would have to show that he planned premeditated to do it.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: Okay. All right.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR WESTER: And then other factors could be weighed against what the prosecution had showed.

It is clear from the above that the trial court did not err in denying appellant's challenge for cause to Juror Wester, and thus appellant's claim that he would have used a peremptory on Wester is without merit, as there is no showing that Wester should have been excused for cause.

Appellant unsuccessfully challenged Juror Landsgaard for cause "on the basis of his affiliation with law enforcement, . . . his association with the State Attorney's office." (R 413). Landsgaard, a retired FBI special agent, was questioned by appellant as to his dealings with the State Attorney's office:

DEFENSE COUNSEL: You indicated that you had some dealings before with Mr. Johnson, and some of the other prosecutors, Mr. Golden, the State Attorney here.

PROSPECTIVE JUROR LANDSGAARD: As far as I recall, I think I may be interviewed Mr. Johnson once or twice in a reference type outfit type investigation.

DEFENSE COUNSEL: All right. How about any of your contacts with Mr. Golden?

PROSPECTIVE JUROR LANDSGAARD: Did the same thing.

(R 397). Landsgaard stated that he could put aside his contacts and decide the case based on the evidence only (R 397). Landsgaard also indicated that prior to three years ago he had occasionally come across two witnesses (deputies) in the course of his work (R 395). Again, appellant has not shown that this juror should have been excused for cause. Peri v. State, 412 So.2d 367 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981).

Finally, appellant never challenged Juror Keyes for cause (R 522) and thus appellant cannot show that Keyes should have been removed for cause. Appellant has not submitted any proof that casts doubt on the conclusion that he was convicted by a fair and impartial jury. Lusk v. State, supra.

- C. The trial court did not err in granting the State's Challenges for Cause to Prospective Jurors opposed to the death penalty and in refusing to allow defense counsel an opportunity to examine the excluded jurors.

Appellee first submits that the issue of whether prospective jurors Caristi and Poniatowski were excluded in violation of Witherspoon v. Illinois, supra, has not been preserved for

appellate review. The record clearly shows that defense counsel objected to the lack of opportunity to voir dire the challenged jurors; defense counsel did not object on the basis that he felt the jurors' responses were insufficient to justify exclusion under Witherspoon. Defense counsel's objection shows that he was only objecting to the lack of opportunity to examine the jurors; it is obvious from the record that if defense counsel had truly wanted to examine those jurors he would have disagreed with the trial judge's characterizations of the jurors' responses concerning the death penalty, thereby putting the trial judge on notice of putative error in excluding jurors in violation of Witherspoon. The rationale for requiring a specific objection under these circumstances was explained by this Court in Maggard v. State, 399 So.2d 973 (Fla.1981), cert.den., 454 U.S. 1059, 102 S.Ct. 610, 70 L.Ed.2d 598:

If a defendant does not want a prospective juror to be excused on the basis of Witherspoon v. Illinois, 391 U.S. 510, 88 S.Ct. 1770, 20 L.Ed.2d 776 (1968), he should make his objection known before the juror is excused. This is not an unreasonable requirement in view of the fact that it is certainly possible that the defendant himself does not want the particular juror to serve and is perfectly content to have the juror excused for cause by the court so that he will not have to use one of his peremptory challenges. Additionally, if the defendant were allowed to raise this point for the first time on appeal, he would be in a position to "sandbag" the trial court and the State by giving the appearance by his silence that he concurs in the court's excusal for cause of a particular juror. He could then proceed, awaiting the outcome of the trial, secure in the knowledge that if he receives the death sentence it would be set aside on appeal. We affirm our prior holdings in Brown v. State, 381 So.2d 690 (Fla.1980), that where no objection is made before the trial court, defendant is in no position to raise this point on appeal.

399 So.2d at 975.

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